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COMPLAINT OF LEHMAN BROTHERS SPECIAL FINANCING INC. 

AGAINST PT MOBILE-8 TELECOM TBK FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, 
VIOLATION OF THE AUTOMATIC STAY, VIOLATION OF THE ADR 

PROCEDURES ORDER AND DECLARATORY RELIEF 
 

Plaintiff Lehman Brothers Special Financing Inc. (“LBSF” or “Lehman”) 

as debtor-in-possession, as and for its Adversary Complaint against Defendant PT 

Mobile-8 Telecom Tbk (“Mobile-8” or “Defendant” and together with Lehman the 

“Parties”), hereby allege as follows: 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This complaint presents a straightforward case of the Defendant, Mobile 

8’s, willful and knowing, repeated violations of the automatic stay and this Court’s own 

ADR Procedures Order.  At every turn, Mobile-8 has flaunted its utter disregard for the 

Bankruptcy Code, the authority of this Court, and the orderly and efficient administration 

of Debtors’ estates.  Mobile-8 and LBSF entered into an ISDA Agreement and a 

Confirmation, defined herein, in August 2007.  Mobile-8 subsequently defaulted on its 

obligations under the Confirmation and has repeatedly refused to pay the amounts it owes 

in respect of the ISDA Agreement and the Confirmation.  These withheld payments 

constitute property of LBSF’s estate, and Mobile-8’s refusal to pay these amounts is an 

attempt to exercise control over property of the estate in clear and direct violation of the 

automatic stay.  LBSF’s attempts to efficiently and expeditiously resolve its dispute with 

Mobile-8 through the ADR process have been thwarted by Mobile-8’s refusal to proceed 

to mediation in direct violation of the Court’s ADR Procedures Order which makes 

participation in mediation mandatory and requires that derivatives counterparties 

participate in good faith.  After initially engaging in the ADR process through the notice 

and response stage and joining LBSF for a series of telephonic settlement conferences, 

Mobile-8 subsequently ignored repeated communications from LBSF, the case manager, 

and the mediator seeking to schedule a date for the mediation.  Instead, as LBSF only 

recently discovered, Mobile-8 brought an action in an Indonesian court, seeking damages 

against LBSF in the amount of $15 million.  In this action, Mobile-8 claimed that the 

Parties’ ISDA Agreement and Confirmation were invalid from their inception, alleged 
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that LBSF committed a tort under Indonesian law by sending Mobile-8 “fictitious bills” 

for the amounts due and payable by Mobile-8 to LBSF under their contract, and asserted 

that in committing this alleged tort, LBSF caused millions of dollars of damage to 

Mobile-8’s “good image, name and reputation.”  Further, in the Jakarta Action, Mobile-8 

has requested that LBSF be prohibited from taking any action or initiating any 

proceeding to challenge the allegations in the Jakarta Action. Apart from being 

completely frivolous, Mobile-8’s Jakarta Action is yet another violation of the automatic 

stay, and further demonstrates Mobile-8’s refusal to participate in good faith in the Court-

ordered ADR process.   

2. Even though LBSF provided proper addresses and other contact 

information for both LBSF’s in-house and outside counsel,  Mobile-8 failed to provide 

LBSF with notice of the Jakarta Action in a timely manner at the proper address.  

Therefore, LBSF first received a copy of the complaint in the Jakarta Action days after it 

was to appear before the court in Jakarta.  It is possible that a default judgment will soon 

be entered against LBSF in Indonesia.  The entry of such judgment could negatively 

impact the orderly and efficient administration of LBSF’s estate for the benefit of all 

creditors.  To the extent that Mobile-8 does obtain a judgment against LBSF in the 

Jakarta Action, it is possible that such judgment could be enforced against LBSF’s 

property abroad and would reduce recovery for legitimate creditors of the estate.  Indeed, 

Mobile-8 has detracted from the orderly administration of the estate merely by bringing 

the Jakarta Action, requiring the estate to devote resources to enforcing its rights under 
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the Bankruptcy Code.  Mobile-8 has likewise wasted LBSF’s time and resources in its 

failure to comply with the ADR Procedures Order.  

3. Through this adversary proceeding, LBSF seeks to recover monetary 

damages for Mobile-8’s breach of the ISDA Agreement and Confirmation, to obtain a 

declaratory judgment that Mobile-8 is in violation of the automatic stay and the ADR 

Procedures Order and that the Jakarta Action is void ab initio, to enforce the automatic 

stay and enjoin Mobile-8 from pursing the Jakarta Action, to compel turnover of the 

amounts owed by Mobile-8 to LBSF, and to recover sanctions for Mobile-8’s repeated, 

deliberate, and knowing violations of the Bankruptcy Code and the ADR Procedures 

Order.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This is a civil proceeding arising in a case under the Bankruptcy Code,     

11 U.S.C. § 101, et seq., within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1334.  It is properly brought 

as an adversary proceeding pursuant to Rule 7001 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy 

Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”). 

5. The Court has jurisdiction over the claims asserted herein pursuant to     

28 U.S.C. § 1334(b), 28 U.S.C. § 1334(e)(1), and 28 U.S.C. § 157(b).   

6. This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b).   

7. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1409(a).   
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8. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant pursuant to the parties’ 

ISDA Agreement and Confirmation, as defined herein, which provide for the application 

of the laws of the State of New York and pursuant to which the parties submitted to the 

jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York and the United States District Court 

for the Southern District of New York. 

PARTIES AND RELATED ENTITIES 

9. Commencing on September 15, 2008, and periodically thereafter (as 

applicable, the “Commencement Date”), Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. (“LBHI”) and 

certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors”) commenced with this Court 

voluntary cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.  LBSF commenced its chapter 

11 case on October 3, 2008.  LBSF’s chapter 11 case has been consolidated with LBHI’s 

chapter 11 case for procedural purposes only, and the cases are being jointly administered 

pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 1015(b).  LBSF’s principal place of business is located at 

1271 Sixth Avenue, New York, New York 10020 and LBSF is authorized to operate its 

businesses and manage its properties as a debtor-in-possession pursuant to sections 

1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.  

10. Mobile-8 is an Indonesian telecommunications company established under 

the laws of the Republic of Indonesia.  Mobile-8’s principal place of business is located 

at Menara Kebon Sirih, 18th Floor, Jl. Kebon Sirih Kav. 17-19, Jakarta 10340.   

DERIVATIVES CONTRACTS AND THE ADR PROCEDURES ORDER 

11. The Debtors are parties to hundreds of thousands of derivatives contracts 

in which the obligations and values are keyed to one or more underlying assets or indices 
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of asset values and subject to movements in the financial markets.  Parties enter into 

derivative contracts for a variety of reasons that include:  (i) hedging against business 

risks; (ii) speculating in the changes of market rates or prices; and/or (iii) financing.  

12. Derivative contracts are typically memorialized by widely used standard 

forms, such as ISDA Master Agreements, which are forms developed by the International 

Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”) to document swap transactions 

between two counterparties.  Counterparties may make certain elections relating to the 

standard form through the use of a schedule and may utilize a credit support annex, 

another ISDA standard form document, to document credit support for the ISDA Master 

Agreement.  The parties then enter into individual transactions under the ISDA Master 

Agreement.  These individual transactions are customarily documented in the form of 

confirmations, which may set forth, among other things, the terms and conditions (certain 

of which may modify the terms and conditions of the standard forms), specified 

quantities and delivery dates for physical transactions, specified methodologies for 

calculation of payment amounts, and specified payment dates for financial transactions.  

13. In some cases, derivatives counterparties may elect to use what is 

commonly referred to as a long-form confirmation – a document that specifies the terms 

of a derivatives transaction, which functions as both a schedule and a trade confirmation.  

The long-form confirmation is typically used where the derivatives counterparties wish to 

engage in a derivatives trade but have not yet executed an ISDA Master Agreement.  The 

long-form confirmation typically states that it supplements, forms a part of and is subject 
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to the terms of, a standard form ISDA Master Agreement (whether or not one has been 

executed by the derivatives counterparties).       

14. On September 17, 2009, this Court entered the Alternative Dispute 

Resolution Procedures Order for Affirmative Claims of Debtors Under Derivatives 

Contracts (the “ADR Procedures Order”) [Docket No. 5207], with the stated goal of 

promoting judicial efficiency and the expedient resolution of disputes pertaining to 

derivatives contracts pursuant to which one or more Debtors assert that monetary 

recovery is due a Debtor from a counterparty.   

15. Pursuant to the ADR Procedures Order, a Debtor may serve on a 

counterparty a notice containing sufficient information regarding the derivatives dispute 

to make the counterparty aware of the nature of Debtor’s affirmative claim, a brief 

explanation setting forth the basis for the demand and the amount, and its demand for 

settlement.  The counterparty must respond within thirty days of receipt of the notice, 

either accepting the settlement demand, or declining to settle for the amount stated in the 

demand and providing a brief explanation setting forth the reasons for such denial.  The 

Debtor may then, within fifteen days from the date of receipt of the response, serve a 

reply in which the Debtor may modify its settlement demand, respond to any 

counteroffer, provide additional information in support of its demands, or reject any 

counteroffer.  During the notice and response stage, either party may request an initial 

settlement conference.   

16. To the extent that the derivatives dispute is not resolved during the notice 

and response stage, the dispute will proceed to mediation.  The Debtors may initiate the 
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mediation by transmitting a copy of the notice, response, and reply to the court-approved 

mediators for allocation to a specific mediator.  Once a specific mediator has been 

selected and notice of such selection is conveyed to the parties, the parties must then 

coordinate with the mediator to schedule the initial mediation date.   

17. The ADR Procedures Order requires each party to participate in good 

faith.  To the extent that the Court determines that a party has not complied with the 

Derivatives ADR Procedures in good faith, the Court may issue such sanctions as it 

deems appropriate.  The ADR Procedures Order specifies that sanctions against a 

derivatives counterparty that fails to participate in good faith may include, but are not 

limited to, “(i) attorneys’ fees incurred by the Debtors with respect to the Derivatives 

ADR Procedures after the sending of an ADR Package; (ii) fees and costs of the 

Mediator; and (iii) an award of the Derivatives ADR Dispute up to the amount specified 

in the Derivatives ADR Notice.”  

TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE PARTIES 

18. LBSF and the Mobile-8 entered into a long-form confirmation, dated as of 

August 8, 2007 (the “Confirmation,” a copy of which is attached hereto as “Exhibit A”), 

pursuant to which the Parties agreed to be bound by the terms of the 1992 form ISDA 

Master Agreement, as if such agreement had been executed by the Parties as of even date 

therewith (together with the Confirmation, the “ISDA Agreement” a copy of which is 

attached hereto as “Exhibit B”).  The Confirmation documented the swap transaction 

between LBSF and the Counterparty with a notional amount of $100,000,000 identified 

by Global ID No. 3267721 (the “Transaction”).  Mobile-8, as the “Fixed Amount Payer” 



 

 9 

agreed to pay LBSF, on the first calendar day of each March and September, from and 

including March 1, 2008 to and including March 1, 2013, a fixed rate equal to 10.45% of 

the notional amount of $100,000,000.  In exchange,  LBSF, as the “Floating Rate Payer” 

agreed to pay Mobile-8 what is known as a “range accrual” coupon.  Each day during a 

payment period, the 30-year and the 2-year Euro swap rates are observed.  For each day 

on which the 30-year rate exceeds the 2-year rate, the range accrual coupon “accrues.”  

The range accrual coupon varies based upon the number of days during the period that 

the 30-year Euro swap rate is observed to be higher than the 2-year Euro swap rate.  On 

days where the 30-year rate exceeds the 2-year rate, the coupon is 11.25%.  Otherwise, 

the coupon is 0%.  At the end of each payment period, these amounts are netted and if the 

range accrual coupon is determined to be higher than the fixed 10.45% rate, a net amount 

is payable to Mobile-8.  Where the range accrual coupon is lower than the fixed 10.45% 

rate, a net amount is payable to LBSF.  

19. The Confirmation states that the Transaction will be governed by New 

York law, see Ex. A at 4, and incorporates the terms of the ISDA Agreement.  See Ex. A 

at 1.  The ISDA Agreement provides that “[w]ith respect to any suit, action or 

proceedings relating to this Agreement (“Proceedings”), each party irrevocably  . . .  

submits . . . to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York and 

the United States District Court located in the Borough of Manhattan in New York City, 

if this Agreement is expressed to be governed by the laws of the State of New York.”  

See Ex. B at ¶ 13(b)(i).  The ISDA Agreement further states that each party “waives any 

objection which it may have at any time to the laying of venue of any Proceedings 
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brought in any such court, waives any claim that such Proceedings have been brought in 

an inconvenient forum and further waives the right to object, with respect to such 

Proceedings, that such court does not have any jurisdiction over such party.”  Id. at  ¶ 

13(b)(ii).   

20. The first payment under the Confirmation became due by LBSF payable 

to Mobile-8 on March 3, 2008 in the amount of $440,000 (the “March 2008 Payment”).  

LBSF paid this amount on March 3, 2008.  

21. On information and belief, Mobile-8 experienced a change in management 

sometime in mid-2008, and Mobile-8’s new management sought to invalidate the 

Transaction between the parties to avoid making any further payments that became due 

under the Transaction.   

22. The second payment under the Confirmation became due by Mobile-8 

payable to LBSF on September 2, 2008 in the amount of $2,047,567 (the “September 

2008 Missed Payment”).  Mobile-8 failed to make this payment.   

23. The third payment under the Confirmation became due by Mobile-8 

payable to LBSF on March 2, 2008 in the amount of $381,250 (the “March 2009 Missed 

Payment”).  Mobile-8 also failed to make this payment.   

24. On March 16, 2009, LBSF delivered a notice to Mobile-8 exercising its 

right under the ISDA Agreement to demand adequate assurance of performance with 

respect to the Transaction.  Mobile-8 failed to provide adequate assurance of performance 
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and LBSF sent a Notice of Early Termination on March 31, 2009, designating April 7, 

2009 as the Early Termination Date. 

25. On May 5, 2009, Mobile-8 sent a letter to LBSF, purporting to terminate 

the Transaction.  Such purported termination was ineffective because the Transaction had 

already been terminated at that time by LBSF.  At no time did Mobile-8 send any type of 

notice of payments due or valuation statement to LBSF.   

26. LBSF sent a Notice of Amount Payable on June 18, 2009 (the 

“Calculation Statement”), notifying Mobile-8 that it owed a Termination Payment in the 

amount of $2,560,472.  This Termination Payment included the March 2008 Missed 

Payment in the amount of $381,250, but, due to a clerical error, incorrectly excluded the 

September 2008 Missed Payment.1  Mobile-8 failed to make the required Termination 

Payment. 

27. Interest has continued to accrue on the September 2008 Missed Payment 

and on the Termination Payment.  As of September 17, 2010, Mobile-8 owed to LBSF a 

total of $5,869,178.54 comprised of (i) $2,560,472 in respect of the Termination 

Payment, plus $577,410.35 in interest; and (ii) $2,047,576.03 in respect of the September 

2008 Missed Payment, plus $683,720.16 in interest. 

 

 

                                                 
1 The correct Termination Payment, including the September 2008 Missed Payment is 
$4,608,039. 
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THE ADR PROCESS 

28. On November 23, 2009, LBSF served a derivatives ADR notice on 

Mobile-8 pursuant to the ADR Procedures Order (the “ADR Notice”).  In the ADR 

Notice, LBSF demanded payment of $2,560,472, plus interest,2 in respect of amounts due 

and owing by Mobile-8 to LBSF in connection with the Transaction. 

29. On December 29, 2009, LBSF received a letter from Mobile-8 in response 

to the ADR Notice (the “ADR Response”).  In the ADR Response, Mobile-8 expressed 

its belief that LBSF, and not Mobile-8, defaulted on the Transaction, and alleged that 

LBSF had engaged in some form of unspecified “fraudulent misrepresentation.”  Mobile-

8  provided no basis for this assertion.  Mobile-8 further alleged that it had terminated the 

Transaction by way of its letter to LBSF on May 5, 2009. 

30. On January 13, 2010, LBSF sent a Reply to the ADR Response (the “ADR 

Reply”).  In the Reply, LBSF explained that Mobile-8’s purported termination on May 5, 

2009 was ineffective because LBSF had already terminated the Transaction, and refuted 

Mobile-8’s unsubstantiated misrepresentation allegation. 

31. The Parties engaged in a telephonic Initial Settlement Conference on 

February 8, 2010 which lasted approximately 40 minutes, and had subsequent calls on 

February 22, 2010 for approximately 20 minutes, and March 16, 2010 for approximately 

90 minutes.  After the Initial Settlement Conference, but before the February 22, 2010 

call, LBSF became aware of the September 2008 Missed Payment, bringing the total 

                                                 
2 As of November 20, 2009, interest had accrued in the amount of $236,226.  
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amount owed by Mobile-8 to LBSF to $4,608,039, plus interest.  During the course of the 

February 22, 2010 call, LBSF requested that Mobile-8 either provide evidence that it 

made the September 2008 Missed Payment, or immediately transmit payment in the 

amount of $2,047,567.03 to LBSF.  LBSF reiterated this demand by letter dated February 

23, 2010.  

32. On March 29, 2010, LBSF transmitted the ADR Notice, Response and 

Reply to the Court-appointed mediators at JAMS, the mediation facility. 

33. In an effort to schedule the mediation between the Parties, the JAMS case 

administrator (the “Case Administrator”) sent Mobile-8 email messages on March 31, 

2010, April 12, 2010, April 14, 2010, April 22, 2010, and April 27, 2010.  The Case 

Administrator further attempted to contact Mobile-8 through its website-based inquiry 

form on May 7, 2010, and by telephone.  Mobile-8 responded to none of these messages, 

and the Case Administrator’s call to Mobile-8’s main phone line was neither answered 

nor directed to voice mail.   

34. On May 7, 2010, the Court-appointed mediator (the “Mediator”) sent a 

letter to Mobile-8 indicating that he had been selected to mediate the Parties’ dispute, and 

requesting that Mobile-8 provide its availability for a conference call to discuss 

scheduling the mediation.  A copy of the ADR Procedures Order was attached to the 

letter.  The package was sent via email, facsimile, and Federal Express.  Mobile-8 did not 

respond.   
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35.   LBSF received no further contact from Mobile-8 until September 10, 

2010 when it first received a copy of the Jakarta Action, defined herein.   

THE JAKARTA ACTION 

36. On September 10, 2010, LBSF received both an Indonesian and an 

English language copy of a complaint allegedly filed on May 26, 2010 by Mobile-8 

against LBSF in the Civil Court, Niaga, HAM Jakarta Pusat, Indonesia (civil case No. 

247/Pdt.G/2010PN.Jkt.Pst) (the “Jakarta Action”).  The copy of the Jakarta Action was 

forwarded to LBSF by the Consulate General of the Republic of Indonesia, and was 

accompanied by a letter dated August 27, 2010.  The address on the letter and on the 

complaint was incorrect, causing further delay before LBSF received notice of the Jakarta 

Action.  Despite having received numerous communications from both LBSF and 

LBSF’s outside counsel during the ADR process, all of which provided accurate contact 

information for both LBSF and its counsel, Mobile-8 erroneously directed the complaint 

to LBSF’s former headquarters at 745 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY 10019, which 

was sold to Barclays in September 2008, and did not serve LBSF’s outside counsel with 

the complaint.  Barclays forwarded the package to LBSF on September 3, 2010, and it 

was received by LBSF on or around September 10, 2010.             

37. The letter accompanying the Jakarta Action indicated that an initial 

proceeding was scheduled to take place before the court in Jakarta on September 8, 2010 

at 10:00 a.m., local time – several days prior to the date upon which LBSF first received 

actual notice of the pending Jakarta Action.  LBSF engaged local counsel in Jakarta and 
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learned that a second hearing on September 29, 2010 had been noticed in two Indonesian 

newspapers. 

38. In the Jakarta Action, Mobile-8 seeks to have the Transaction deemed 

invalid and brings several causes of action against LBSF, all premised upon the alleged 

invalidity of the Confirmation.  Specifically, Mobile-8 selectively quotes the language of 

the Confirmation to suggest, incorrectly, that the Confirmation would only become 

binding and effective when and if the parties execute a form ISDA Master Agreement 

(the “ISDA Form”).   

39. Contrary to Mobile-8’s assertions in the Jakarta Action, the express terms 

of the Confirmation state that “[t]his Confirmation evidences a complete and binding 

agreement between [LBSF] and [Mobile-8] as to the terms of the Transaction to which 

this Confirmation relates.”   

40. The Confirmation further states that unless and until the Parties execute a 

form ISDA Master Agreement, “this Confirmation, together with all other documents 

confirming transactions entered into between us and referring to the ISDA Form, shall 

supplement, form a part of, and be subject to an agreement in the form of the ISDA Form 

as if we had executed an agreement in such form (but without any Schedule) on the Trade 

Date of this Transaction.”   

41. Mobile-8 alleges that the Transaction never became binding upon the 

Parties because the Parties did not execute an ISDA Form.  As a result, Mobile-8 alleges 

that the actions taken by LBSF to bill Mobile-8 for the September 2008 Missed Payment 
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and the March 2009 Missed Payment constituted a tort under Indonesian law.  Mobile-8’s 

complaint ignores the facts that the Confirmation is a binding agreement and the 

Confirmation incorporated by reference the terms and conditions of the ISDA 

Agreement.   

42. Mobile-8 further alleges that LBSF is in violation of Bank Indonesia 

Regulation No. 7/31/PBI/2005 on Derivative Transactions (the “Indonesia Bank 

Regulation”).  In fact, the Confirmation is fully compliant with the Indonesia Bank 

Regulation which requires that derivatives transactions shall be governed by contracts, 

and specifies that derivatives contracts must include the following terms: (a) ceiling on 

the derivative transaction; (b) base currency used; (c) currency or instrument to be 

exchanged; (d) settlement of the derivative transaction; (e) book keeping of gains/losses 

arising from the derivative transaction; (f) recording of unrealized gains or losses; (g) 

method or means of the derivative transaction; (h) amount of commission; (i) use of 

conversion rate; (j) advice and confirmation of the derivative transaction; (k) 

confidentiality; and (l) domicile and governing law.   These terms are included within the 

Confirmation itself, even without reference to the ISDA Agreement that is incorporated 

by reference into the Parties’ Confirmation. 

43. Because the Confirmation is a valid, binding and enforceable contract 

between the Parties, there is no basis for Mobile-8’s tort claims arising out of LBSF’s  

attempts to contact Mobile-8 to receive payment of the amounts due under the 

Confirmation.   
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COUNT I 

(Breach of the ISDA Master Agreement by Failure to Make the Required 
Termination Payment) 

44. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 43 as if fully set forth herein. 

45. Pursuant to the ISDA Agreement, LBSF, as the Non-Defaulting Party, was 

required to provide Mobile-8, as the Defaulting Party, with a calculation of the amount 

payable upon Early Termination.  ISDA Agreement, § 6(d)(i).  Mobile-8 was required to 

make the Termination Payment on or before June 18, 2009.  ISDA Agreement, § 6(d)(ii).   

46. Mobile-8 failed to make any payment to LBSF in respect of the Early 

Termination Date and accordingly breached the ISDA Agreement and its obligations to 

LBSF thereunder.  

47. Mobile-8’s breach of the ISDA Agreement by failing to make the required 

Termination Payment resulted in damages to LBSF in the amount $2,560,472, plus 

interest.  LBSF should be awarded damages in an amount to be determined at trial but, in 

all events, no less than $2,560,472, representing the Termination Payment, plus interest at 

the Applicable Rate accruing from and including the Early Termination Date, through the 

date of payment.  



 

 18 

COUNT II 

(Breach of the ISDA Master Agreement by Failure to Make the Required 
September 2008 Missed Payment) 

48. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 47 as if fully set forth herein. 

49. Pursuant to the terms of the Confirmation, a payment in the amount of 

$2,047,567 became payable by Mobile-8 to LBSF on September 1, 2008.  Mobile-8 was 

contractually required to make this September 2008 Missed Payment and failed to do so.   

50. Mobile-8’s failure to make the September 2008 Missed Payment 

constitutes a breach of the Confirmation and its obligations thereunder.   

51. Mobile-8’s breach of the Confirmation by failing to make the required 

September 2008 Missed Payment resulted in damages to LBSF in the amount 

$2,047,576.  LBSF should be awarded damages in an amount to be determined at trial 

but, in all events, no less than $2,047,576, representing the September 2008 Missed 

Payment, plus interest at the Default Rate accruing from and including September 1, 

2008, through the date of payment.  

COUNT III 

(Declaratory Judgment that Mobile-8 Is Willfully Violating the Automatic Stay by 
Pursuing the Jakarta Action) 

52. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 51 as if fully set forth herein. 

53. Pursuant to section 362(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, the filing of 

a voluntary case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code operates to stay “the 
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commencement or continuation, including the issuance or employment of process, of a 

judicial, administrative, or other action or proceeding against the debtor that was or could 

have been commenced before the commencement of the case under this title, or to 

recover a claim against the debtor that arose before the commencement of the case under 

this title.”  11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(1). 

54. The Jakarta Action is a judicial proceeding brought by Mobile-8 

against LBSF in which Mobile-8 has sought judgment on a claim that arose prior to the 

commencement of LBSF’s chapter 11 case and is therefore an action of the kind barred 

by 11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(1).  Specifically, the Jakarta Action is premised on the invalidity of 

the ISDA Agreement and Confirmation, entered into by the Parties on or about August 7, 

2007.  The collateral claims in which Mobile-8 alleges tort damages and injury to its 

professional standing are all premised upon the initial finding that the ISDA Agreement 

is invalid and unenforceable.      

55. As a direct and proximate result of Mobile-8’s initiation of the 

Jakarta Action, LBSF has suffered, and continues to suffer, significant damages, 

including (but not limited to) the accumulation of legal costs and fees (including 

attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by reason of the enforcement and protection of its 

rights.   

56. Under section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, this Court may 

“issue any order, process, or judgment that is necessary or appropriate to carry out the 

provisions of this title.”  11 U.S.C. § 105(a).  Under this section, this Court may order 

that the Jakarta action is void ab initio, enjoin Mobile-8 from pursuing the Jakarta Action 

and grant damages to punish violations of the automatic stay.   
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57. Accordingly, LBSF is entitled to (1) a declaratory judgment that 

Mobile-8 acted in express violation of sections 362 of the Bankruptcy Code by initiating 

the Jakarta Action and that the Jakarta action is void ab initio; and (2) pursuant to section 

105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, LBSF is entitled to an order enjoining Mobile-8 from 

pursuing the Jakarta Action and an award of monetary damages, in an amount to be 

determined at trial and including (but not limited to) LBSF’s costs and attorneys’ fees and 

expenses, on account of Mobile-8’s knowing and willful violation of the automatic stay.  

COUNT IV 

(Declaratory Judgment that Mobile-8 Is Willfully Violating the Automatic Stay by 
Withholding Payment of the Termination Payment) 

58. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 57 as if fully set forth herein. 

59. Pursuant to section 362(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, the filing of 

a voluntary case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code operates to stay “any act to 

obtain possession of property of the estate or of property from the estate or to exercise 

control over property of the estate” absent an order of the Bankruptcy Court granting 

relief from the stay.  11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(3). 

60. The Termination Payment constitutes property of LBSF’s estate, 

and Mobile-8’s withholding thereof constituted, and continues to constitute, an “act to 

obtain possession of property of the estate or of property from the estate or to exercise 

control over property of the estate.”  11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(3).  

61. As a direct and proximate result of Mobile-8’s withholding of the 

Termination Payment, LBSF has suffered, and continues to suffer, significant damages, 

including (but not limited to) loss of use of the amounts owed by Mobile-8 and all 



 

 21 

accrued but unpaid interest, the opportunity cost associated therewith, and the 

accumulation of legal costs and fees (including attorneys’ fees and expenses) incurred by 

reason of the enforcement and protection of its rights under the ISDA Agreement. 

62. Under section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, this Court may 

“issue any order, process, or judgment that is necessary or appropriate to carry out the 

provisions of this title.”  11 U.S.C. § 105(a).  Under this section, this Court may order 

that the Jakarta action is void ab initio, enjoin Mobile-8 from pursuing the Jakarta Action 

and grant damages to punish violations of the automatic stay.   

63. Accordingly, LBSF is entitled to (1) a declaratory judgment that 

Mobile-8 acted in express violation of sections 362 of the Bankruptcy Code by 

withholding payment of the Termination Payment; and (2) pursuant to section 105(a) of 

the Bankruptcy Code, LBSF is entitled to an order enjoining Mobile-8 from pursuing the 

Jakarta Action and an award of monetary damages, in an amount to be determined at trial 

and including (but not limited to) LBSF’s actual damages, costs, and attorneys’ fees and 

expenses, on account of Mobile-8’s knowing and willful violation of the automatic stay.  

COUNT V 

(Turnover of the September 2008 Missed Payment and the Termination Payment 
Pursuant to Section 542(b) of the Bankruptcy Code) 

64. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 63 as if fully set forth herein. 

65. Pursuant to the terms of the Confirmation, a payment in the amount of 

$2,047,567 became payable by Mobile-8 to LBSF on September 1, 2008.  Mobile-8 was 

contractually required to make this September 2008 Missed Payment and failed to do so.   
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66. Pursuant to the ISDA Agreement, LBSF, as the Non-Defaulting Party, was 

required to provide Mobile-8, as the Defaulting Party, with a calculation of the amount 

payable upon Early Termination.  ISDA Agreement, § 6(d)(i).  Mobile-8 was required to 

make the Termination Payment on or before June 18, 2009.  ISDA Agreement, § 6(d)(ii).   

67. The payments due to LBSF under the ISDA Agreement and Confirmation 

constitute property of the LBSF estate under section 541(a) of  the Bankruptcy Code.     

68. Section 542(b) of the Bankruptcy Code expressly provides that “. . . an 

entity that owes a debt that is property of the estate and that is matured, payable on 

demand, or payable on order, shall pay such debt to, or on the order of, the trustee, except 

to the extent that such debt may be offset under section 553 of this title against a claim 

against the debtor.”  11 U.S.C. § 542(b) (emphasis added).  Section 542(b) of the 

Bankruptcy Code clearly obligated Mobile-8 to pay the Termination Payment and the 

September 2008 Missed Payment “on demand” and its failure to do so was in express 

violation of the Bankruptcy Code.  

69. Accordingly, LBSF requests an order compelling Mobile-8 to turn over 

the Termination Payment and the September 2008 Missed Payment pursuant to section 

542(b) of the Bankruptcy Code as it constitutes property of the bankruptcy estate under 

section 541(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.  Additionally, LBSF asserts a claim for interest at 

the Applicable Rate, as specified in the ISDA Agreement. 
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COUNT VI 

(Declaratory Judgment that Mobile-8 Is Willfully Violating the  
ADR Procedures Order) 

70. Lehman repeats and realleges each and every allegation set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 69 as if fully set forth herein. 

71. The ADR Procedures Order provides that participation in the ADR 

process is mandatory, and requires that all parties “participate in good faith, follow 

directions of the mediator, and otherwise comply with the Derivatives ADR 

Procedures….”  ADR Procedures Order ¶ 5.   

72. A party that fails to comply with the ADR Procedures Order is subject to 

such sanctions as the Court deems appropriate.   ADR Procedures Order ¶ 12.  The ADR 

Procedures Order specifies that sanctions against a derivatives counterparty that fails to 

participate in good faith may include, but are not limited to, “(i) attorneys’ fees incurred 

by the Debtors with respect to the Derivatives ADR Procedures after the sending of an 

ADR Package; (ii) fees and costs of the Mediator; and (iii) an award of the Derivatives 

ADR Dispute up to the amount specified in the Derivatives ADR Notice.”  ADR 

Procedures Order, ¶ 12(b).  

73. Mobile-8 is in clear and willful violation of the ADR Procedures Order.  

After initially responding to the ADR Notice and participating in three settlement calls, 

Mobile-8 abruptly ended its participation in the ADR process, refusing to respond to 

LBSF, the Case Administrator, or the Mediator.  Mobile-8’s filing of the Jakarta Action 

on May 26, 2010 further evidences Mobile-8’s failure to participate in good faith.  
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Mobile-8’s failure to participate in good faith and its failure to follow the directions of 

the mediator are sanctionable by this Court. 

74. Imposition of sanctions on Mobile-8 in the amount specified in the 

Derivatives ADR Notice plus attorneys’ fees incurred by the Debtor after the transmittal 

of the ADR Package will prevent Mobile-8 from benefiting from its failure to comply 

with the ADR Procedures Order.  It will further serve as a disincentive to other 

derivatives counterparties who may consider refusing to participate in the ADR process.  

75. Accordingly, LBSF asks the Court to sanction Mobile-8 by (i)  ordering 

Mobile-8 to pay the attorneys’ fees incurred by Debtors with respect to the ADR 

Procedures after the transmittal of the ADR Package to the Court-appointed mediators; 

(ii) ordering Mobile-8 to pay any fees and costs of the Mediator; and (iii) awarding to 

LBSF the amount specified in the Derivatives ADR Notice. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Lehman respectfully requests that judgment be entered as 

follows: 

  A. On Count I, a judgment finding that Mobile-8 breached the ISDA 

Agreement by failing to pay to LBSF the Termination Amount and awarding LBSF 

damages in an amount to be determined at trial but, in all events, no less than the sum of 

$2,560,472, plus accrued but unpaid interest; 
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  B. On Count II, a judgment finding that Mobile-8 breached the terms 

of the Transaction and awarding LBSF damages in an amount to be determined at trial 

but, in all events, no less than the sum of $2,047,576,  plus accrued, but unpaid, interest;  

  C. On Count III, a declaratory judgment that in initiating the Jakarta 

Action, Mobile-8 has acted in express violation of section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code 

and that the Jakarta Action is void ab initio; and that pursuant to section 105(a) of the 

Bankruptcy Code, LBSF is entitled to an order enjoining Mobile-8 from pursuing the 

Jakarta Action and an award of damages, in an amount to be determined at trial and 

including (but not limited to) LBSF’s costs and attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred on 

account of Mobile-8’s knowing and willful violation of the automatic stay; 

  D. On Count IV, a declaratory judgment that in withholding the 

Termination Amount payable by Mobile-8 to LBSF under the ISDA Agreement, Mobile-

8 has acted in express violation of section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code; and that pursuant 

to section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, LBSF is entitled to an order enjoining Mobile-

8 from pursuing the Jakarta Action and an award of damages, in an amount to be 

determined at trial and including (but not limited to) LBSF’s actual damages, costs, and 

attorneys’ fees and expenses, incurred on account of Mobile-8’s knowing and willful 

violation of the automatic stay;  

E. On Count V, a judgment that the September 2008 Missed Payment 

and the Termination Payment are property of the LBSF bankruptcy estate under section 

541 of the Bankruptcy Code and requiring Mobile-8 to turn over, under section 542 of the 

Bankruptcy Code, the sum of $4,608,048, plus interest thereon, as applicable; 
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F. On Count VI, a declaratory judgment that in refusing to participate 

in good faith in the ADR process, Mobile-8 has willfully violated the Court’s ADR 

Procedures Order, and LBSF is entitled to an award of sanctions including (i) attorneys’ 

fees incurred by Lehman with respect to the ADR Procedures after the transmittal of the 

ADR Package to the Court-appointed mediators; (ii) fees and costs of the Mediator; and 

(iii) the amount specified in the Derivatives ADR Notice; 

G.  For such other and further relief, including interest, costs, and 

attorneys’ fees, as the Court deems just and proper.   

 

Dated: New York, New York 
 October 1, 2010 
 
 
      /s/ Robert Lemons    
 Peter Gruenberger, Esq. 
 Robert Lemons, Esq. 
      WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP 
      767 Fifth Avenue 
      New York, NY 10153-0019 
      Telephone: (212) 310-8000 
      Facsimile:  (212) 310-8007 
 
       - and -  
 
      Holly E. Loiseau 
      WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES LLP 
      1300 I Street, NW, Suite 900 
      Washington, DC 20005 
      Telephone: (202) 682-7000 
      Facsimile:  (202) 857-0940 
 

Attorneys for Debtors and Plaintiffs LBSF 
and LBHI 

 






































































